#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# MICHAEL RENARD JACKSON,

Appellant,

v. CASE NO. SC10-1646

# STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.		

#### APPELLANT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DAVID A. DAVIS
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0271543
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
301 S. MONROE ST., SUITE 401
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 606-8517
david.davis@flpd2.com
ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

#

# I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

MICHAEL RENARD JACKSON, was the defendant in the trial court and will be referred to in this brief as either "appellant," "defendant," or by his proper name.

References to the Record on Appeal will be by the volume number in Arabic numbers followed by the appropriate page number, all in parentheses.

### II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Clay County on March 9, 2007 charged Michael Jackson with one count of first-degree murder with a weapon, and one count sexual battery (1 R 14). The State also filed a notice that it would seek a death sentence if he were convicted of the murder (1 R 21).

Jackson filed several motions, the following of which have relevance to this appeal:

- 1. Motion for Special Verdict (1 R 104). Denied (4 R 731).
- 2. Motion to Exclude Evidence Lacking Probative Value . (1 R 118). Denied (4 R 730)
- 3. Motion to Declare Florida's Capital Sentencing Procedure Unconstitutional under <u>Ring v. Arizona</u> (1 R 172). Denied (4 R 732).
- 4. Motion to Declare Section 921.141(5)(a) Florida Statutes Unconstitutional as Applied (4 R 633). Denied (4 R 734).
- 5. Motion in Limine and Offer to Stipulate Concerning "Under Sentence" Aggravating Factor (4 R 683). Denied (4 R 735).

Jackson was tried before Judge William Wilkes, and the jury found the defendant guilty as charged on both counts (4 R 754-6). As to the murder conviction, it also found that he had used a weapon (4 R 756). The defendant moved for a new trial (4 R 785-86), but the court denied that request (5 R 833).

Jackson proceeded to the penalty phase of his trial. The State presented only victim impact testimony from two members of the victim's family (16 R 1550-53).

Jackson refused to present a full case for mitigation, and after an inquiry as to that intent, the court allowed defense counsel to make a verbal proffer to it, but not the jury, of the mitigation he believed he could have presented (16 R1469-75).

Jackson, did, however, permit counsel to call a probation officer to testify that the defendant was a "pretty good guy" and had no problems with him while he was on probation (16 R 1574). Jackson's lawyer also called the security commander for the Clay County jail who said that while Jackson was there he posed no problems and abided by the jail's rules (16 R 1578-810) The jury recommended, by a vote of 9-3, that the court impose a death sentence, which it did (5 R 820). Justifying that punishment, it found in aggravation that

- 1. Jackson committed the murder while under a sentence of imprisonment or probation. Great weight
- 2. Jackson committed the murder during the course of a sexual battery. Great weight.
- 3. Jackson was previously convicted of another violent felony. Great weight.
  - 4. The murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.

(5 R 858-59).

Against these aggravators the court found no statutory mitigation, but it did find and weigh the following nonstatutory mitigation:

1. The existence of any factors in the Defendant's character, background or life. Slight weight.

- 2. The Defendant had a deprived early childhood without role models. Slight weight.
- 3. The Defendant's father was absent from the home. Slight weight.
- 4. The Defendant's mother abandoned him when she moved to Florida from Texas. Slight weight.
- 5. The Defendant suffered from severe physical injury (skull fracture) at a young age, along with other injuries. Slight weight.
  - 6. The Defendant and his family were poor. Slight weight.
- 7. The Defendant was abused by older women when his mother was not around. Slight weight.
- 8. The Defendant and his siblings were subjected to child sexual abuse and neglect. Slight weight.
- 9. The Defendant's Clay County Jail incarceration revealed that he is capable of adapting well to long-term incarceration. Slight weight.
- 10. The Defendant is loved by his family and friends. Slight weight.
- 11. The Defendant had a severely dysfunctional family. Slight weight.
- 12. The Defendant has friends, cares about others, and has brought others to believe in God. Slight weight.
  - 13. The Defendant believes in God. Slight weight.
- 14. The Defendant was subjected to involuntary drug use and alcohol abuse prior to reaching his fifth birthday. Slight weight.
- 15. The Defendant was hospitalized and/or required major surgery on three occasions prior to attaining the age of three years old. Slight weight.
- 16. At the age of six months, a medical specialist detected abnormal brain wave activity. Slight weight.
- 17. The Defendant was raised in a low-income housing project. Slight weight.
- 18. As a child the Defendant witnessed violence perpetrated upon his mother when she was shot by her husband in the Defendant's presence. Slight weight.
- 19. After being abandoned in Texas by his mother at an early age, the Defendant was unilaterally removed from the care and custody of a caring relative, and sent to Florida. Slight weight.

- 20. The Defendant was sexually abused during his teenage years by a juvenile detention counselor. Slight weight.
- 21. The defendant has been described as a hard worker. Slight weight.
- 22. The Defendant was kind to children and homeless individuals. Slight weight.
- 23. The Defendant was polite, cooperative, and respectful to his attorneys and legal staff during the pendency of his criminal case. Slight weight.
- 24. After being released from long-term custody, the Defendant resided with, and assisted with the physical care of an older couple with medical issues. Slight Weight.

### (5 R 862-65)

The court sentence Jackson to life in prison for the sexual battery conviction, to run concurrently with the death sentence (5 R 873, 875).

This appeal follows.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### A. The Prosecution's case

On January 23, 2007, Andrea Boyer worked as a veterinarian technician at a animal clinic in Jacksonville (11 R 482). That morning, as was her routine on operating days, she was supposed to open the clinic about 5 a.m., and get it ready for the day's activities, which, this day, would be surgeries on some of the animals housed at one of the clinic's three buildings (11 R 482). Although she apparently got there about that time, that is all she did.

At 6:45 a.m., Boyer's other co-workers began to arrive, and the first one there noticed, not only was the clinic not ready for business, lights were off, and things were not right (11 R 585, 589). Joy Ortiz, one of the other vet. techs., looked around to see what was going on, went through the main office, and noted that the cash box did not have the \$100 it normally had (11 R 587). Another technician went to another building and discovered Boyer's body (12 R 618).

The police were called, and soon they arrived and began investigating her death. Her body was laying on the floor with her panties pulled down and left on one leg (12 R 703, 13 R 974). She had numerous bruises including ones on her

shoulders consistent with her bra strap being pushed into a cement floor (13 R 990-91), bruises on her right arm consistent with being grabbed, bruises on her hand and hip consistent with it being forced to the floor or fighting her attacker, and a bruise to her left arm (13 R 990-96). The body had no broken bones (14 R 1006). There were also eight "sharp force" superficial wounds on her left hand and two on her right (14 R 1007-1015, 1061). There was no trauma to her vagina or anus, and none of her clothes had tears (14 R 1099). There was thus no evidence she had been sexually battered (14 R 1099).

Boyer had been strangled manually and with a ligature, and she was probably alive, conscious, and struggling when manually strangled (14 R 1018, 1026-27, 1030-31). Something, such as a fire extinguisher, had also hit her at least one time in the back of the head, causing her skull to fracture and injuring her brain and brainstem (14 R 1042, 1047, 1052). The blow could also have caused instantaneous unconsciousness (14 R 1099).

At trial, the medical examiner said that Boyer died from either the strangulation or the blow to the head (14 R 1058)<sup>2</sup>.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A knife blade was found a few days after the murder in a drain on the floor (13 R 806-807).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> While the medical examiner said Boyer was alive while being strangled, he was unsure if she was when hit on the head (14 R 1060).

DNA consistent with Jackson's DNA was found in Boyer's vagina (14 R 1138, 1143).

On January 23, Michael Jackson lived with a couple, the Goolsbys, at an extended stay lodging in Jacksonville and had done so for several months (12 R 768, 773, 775).<sup>3</sup> He worked for a construction company, and he got up about 4 or 5 a.m. every morning to be at work by 6 or 7 a.m. (12 R 780, 13 R 829). Usually he walked the half mile or so to it (12 R 780, 13 R 815), but occasionally he got a ride from a co-worker (12 R 780, 13 R 816). The veterinary clinic was only a couple of blocks from where the defendant lived, and Jackson had to walk by it on his way to work (12 R 772, 13 R 885).

On January 23rd, the Goolsbys noticed no injuries or scratches on Jackson, did not see any blood on his clothes, and saw no change in his demeanor (12 R 786, 798-99). A co-worker, however, noted that after the murder, the defendant no longer had a beige or white jacket that, before then, he had regularly worn (13 R 816).

At times, Jackson would also stop at a convenience store on his way to work (11 R 536). Boyer also regularly stopped there on her way to the clinic, which was also nearby (11 R 533-34). In particular, on January 23, she went inside and bought

a soda and some cigarettes (11 R 539). There is no evidence the two ever met or saw each other at that store (11 R 536).

Boyer had been married for several years (11 R 481, 518), and she had had three abortions, the most recent being about two months before her death (11 R 517-18). She and her husband occasionally smoked marijuana (11 R 499), she had several tattoos on her body, and seven to ten piercings in each ear (11 R 513-515). While working at the vet clinic, she had also danced part time as a stripper at a club called Solid Gold (11 R 519).

When the police learned that Jackson's DNA had been found in Boyer's vagina (13 R 913), they questioned and eventually arrested the defendant (13 R 941). During their interrogation, they directly and repeatedly accused the defendant of killing her (13 R 914, 920, 931). He steadfastly denied doing so, and never admitted murdering her (13 R 915, 919-23, 924, 930, 933, 935-36).

#### B. The Defense case.

Jackson knew Andrea Boyer, or rather, he had seen her dance at the Solid Gold club at least twice and knew her as Haley (14 R 1200, 15 1206-1207). He had also seen her frequently at the convenience store they had patronized (15 R 1207).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> During this time, Jackson had an affair with Mrs. Goolsby (12 R 787).

One time, he walked by her truck and smelled the odor of marijuana coming from it. He told her "that's a great smell" and gave her a marijuana cigarette (15 R 1209-10). Over time, they developed a friendship of sorts. They would smoke marijuana together, and he would sell her some of the weed (15 R 1213). When she asked if he "did" pills, he said he did not, but he was able to get her some (15 R 1214).

This relationship eventually included sex, including group sex with another couple (15 R 1217). Eventually, her demand for pills included trading sex for the drugs (15 R 1218-19).

On January 23, 2007, he met Boyer, or rather, she picked him up and they smoked some marijuana and had sex (15 R 1223). They parted with her going to her job and he went to his (15 R 1223). Sometime before then she told him that she was pregnant with his child (15 R 1224).

Michael Norris, a former boyfriend and ex-fiancé of Boyer had dated her for three years (15 R 1300). During that time they had smoked some marijuana and occasionally taken some pills (15 R 1300). They had also had different types of sex, including one time when she asked him to watch as she had sex with another female (15 R 1300).

### III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: During the State's presentation of its case in chief, it introduced, over objection, a redacted version of the police interrogation of Jackson. The gist of the edited version was that the police accused Jackson of killing Andrea Boyer, and he adamantly denied doing it. He never gave any hint, suggestion, or clue that he had anything to do with her homicide. Hence, the evidence of this questioning had marginal relevance, at best, and more realistically whatever it may have tended to prove was substantially outweighed by the prejudice of hearing the police repeatedly say they believed Jackson had murdered Boyer.

The law in this area holds that a police interview should be redacted where the interrogating detective made prejudicial statements of fact and personal belief about the guilt of the defendant, which were not adopted or admitted by him. This makes sense because jurors tend to attach greater significance to what policemen say, and that likelihood becomes particularly prejudicial when they express their beliefs of the defendant's guilt.

ISSUE II. Jackson was convicted of sexually battering Andrea Boyer.

There is, however, insufficient evidence that he did so. First, he denied doing committing that crime, and he never said anything different. Second, the other evidence supports that. None of the victim's clothes was torn, used to tie her, or placed in her mouth as a gag. She had no injuries around her vagina, which would have indicated forced sex. Of course, she was strangled but there is no evidence it was done during the course of having sex with her. Moreover, he had a reasonable explanation for how his DNA was found in her vagina. In short, the circumstantial evidence supports his explanation of voluntary sexual activity, and none of what the State presented refutes it.

ISSUE III. The court found that when Jackson committed the murder he was on probation. Hence, it found the aggravating factor that the murder was committed by a person previously convicted of a felony and under sentence of imprisonment or placed on community control or on felony probation. The problem is that while Jackson admittedly was on probation, there is no evidence that he committed the murder for any reason connected with that status. If Florida's death penalty statute is to have validity the aggravating factors must

somehow significantly narrow the class of persons eligible for a death sentence.

Here, the mere fact that Jackson, by some unfortunate coincidence, happened to be on probation at the time of the murder does not do this. The trial court, therefore, erred in finding this aggravating factor.

ISSUE IV: In addition to the conviction for first degree murder, the jury also found that Jackson had committed a sexual battery. While the jury knew about the facts of those capital and noncapital crimes, and that he faced a possible death sentence for the murder, the court refused to tell it that he also could be sentenced to life in prison for the sexual battery. Although it summarily denied that request, this Court's opinion in Nixon v. State, 572 So.2d 1336, 1345 (Fla. 1990) supported that ruling. In that case, this Court said that Rule 3.390(a), Fla. R. Crim. P., prohibited the jury from hearing about other sentences the defendant may have, the evidence was irrelevant for mitigation, and besides defense counsel had argued the convictions as mitigation and the court instructed the jury that it was "unlimited."

None of the reasons withstand scrutiny or application to this case. Rule 3.390(a) applied only to the guilt phase of a trial. The evidence was accurate and had relevance to the defendant's record. Additionally, the evidence of the

punishment Jackson faced for the sexual battery was accurate and of the type sentencers have traditionally used in determining the appropriate sentence a defendant should serve. Such evidence also tended to rebut or minimize the weight the jury would have given to the uncontested aggravating factors of (1) Prior violent felonies, and (2) Committed during the course of a sexual battery.

**ISSUE V**. This Court wrongly decided <u>Bottoson v. Moore</u>, 863 So.2d 393 (Fla. 2002), and <u>King v. Moore</u>, 831 So.2d 403 (Fla. 2002). Because it has recently and repeatedly rejected arguments challenging the correctness of those decisions, Jackson recognizes the futility of repeating those arguments. He raises this issue now simply to preserve it for further review.

### IV. ARGUMENT

### **ISSUE I:**

THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED THE STATE TO PLAY A RECORDING OF THE POLICE REPEATEDLY ASKING JACKSON WHY HE KILLED BOYER, THAT DNA EVIDENCE CONCLUSIVELY LINKED HIM TO THE MURDER, THERE WAS NO QUESTION HE HAD KILLED HER, AND THE DEFENDANT REPEATEDLY DENIED HE HAD COMMITTED ANY CRIMES AGAINST HER, A VIOLATION OF THE DEFENDANT'S FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENT RIGHTS.

This issue involves an application of §90.403, Fla. Stats. (2007), which precludes the admission of relevant evidence when its probative value is substantially outweighed by its prejudicial impact.

90.403. Exclusion on grounds of prejudice or confusion. Relevant evidence is inadmissible if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of issues, misleading the jury, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.]

At trial, over defense objection (1 R 48, 98, 12 R 1272, 1282-1307)<sup>4</sup>, the police, after reading Jackson his Miranda rights, which he waived, repeatedly asked him why he had killed Andrea Boyer. As often, Jackson denied killing her. He never admitted raping and murdering her, and the jury heard only a lengthy questioning in which the police repeatedly, ad nauseum, demanded, asked, or begged the defendant to tell them why he had killed her. He never admitted doing that or raping her, never admitted being at the scene of the murder, and never explained how his DNA was found inside her vagina. In short, other than the repeated accusations by the police and the repeated denials by Jackson, this evidence had little or no relevance, no tendency to prove any material fact. §90.401, Fla. Stats. (2007)(Relevant evidence is any fact tending to prove or disprove any material fact.). Moreover, whatever relevancy it may have had was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. §90.403, Fla. Stat. (2007) This Court should review this issue under an abuse of discretion standard of review.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> By way of a pretrial motion to redact, Jackson objected to the State introducing an unedited version of the questioning (8 R 1251, 1271-72, 1273-74, 1277-79, 1282, 1287, 1310). After he and the prosecutor went through and deleted some, but not all, of what the police and Jackson said the court denied, in part, the motion and let the prosecutor play a redacted copy of it.

### A. What the jury heard.

At trial, the jury heard the lengthy police questioning of Jackson. Initially, the law enforcement officers tried to put him at ease by saying that they were at the police station, and "We're all friends here, right? . . Well, I took a bath today, so--" (13 R 898) They casually read him his Miranda rights, and with a "Uh-huh" he waived them (13 R 899).

After some conversation about football (13 R 899-900), where he lived, his social security number, whether he wanted to wipe his nose, and other minutiae (13 R 899-901), they began asking him about who he lived with, where he worked, how long, how he got there, and if he knew where the "vet clinic" was (13 R 901-908). The defendant admitted he knew where it was, but he had never been there (13 R 909). He also said he did not know Andrea Boyer (13 R 909), and knew almost nothing about her murder (13 R 910). Then, Detective Martin Cotchalevoich, one of the two interrogators, asked:

In your whole life never run into her? Don't recognize her from anywhere?

MICHAEL JACKSON: No.

DETECTIVE COTCHALEVOICH: The only question I have is why did you kill her?

MICHAEL JACKSON: Why did I kill her?

DET. COTCHALEOVICH: Yeah.

MICHAEL JACKSON: What do you mean why did I kill her?

DET. COTCHALEOVICH: Why did you kill her?

MICHAEL JACKSON: I ain't kill her.

DET. COTCHALEOVICH: If you want to rape her that's one thing but to kill her that's - - (Inaudible.) - - different. ... You may not know it but we have physical evidence at our scene, okay, that we run tests on, semen that sort of thing.

MICHAEL JACKSON: My DNA?

DET. COTCHALEOVICH: Absolutely. ...

MICHAEL JACKSON: I ain't - - listen, I ain't killed nobody.

DET. COTCHALEOVICH: Michael. Michael, we're not --we're not here to argue. We're not mad, okay? What I want to understand is why this happened.

MICHAEL JACKSON: I ain't killed nobody. I ain't - - ... DET. COTCHALEOVICH: ... The profile test that was matched matched with your profile. It's 100 percent guaranteed.

\* \* \*

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