IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL RENARD JACKSON

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC10-1646

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\_\_\_\_\_/

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR CLAY COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

MEREDITH CHARBULA Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0708399

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS PL-01, THE CAPITOL Tallahassee, Florida (850) 414-3300, Ext. 3583 (850) 487-0997 (Fax)

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

circumstantial evidence).

This Court need not resolve the question of whether this particular conviction is subject to the circumstantial evidence standard of review. This is so because the State presented competent evidence inconsistent with the defendant's claim the sex was consensual. As such, the trial court properly sent this case to the jury. <u>State v. Clyatt</u>, 976 So.2d 1182 (Fla. 5<sup>th</sup> DCA 2008)(citing to <u>State v. Hudson</u>, 397 So.2d 426, 428 (Fla. 2d DCA 1981) for the notion that "[q]uestions of consent, force, resistance and fear are particularly within the province of the jury to determine."). Likewise, there is competent substantial evidence to support the jury's determination that Jackson raped A.B. and then murdered her. <u>Troy v. State</u>, 948 So.2d 635 (Fla. 2006); Darling v. State, 808 So.2d at 156.

<u>Merits</u>: Jackson testified at trial that he and A.B., a woman he knew as "Haley", had been having sex on a regular basis. According to Jackson's testimony at trial, some months before the murder, he had a chance encounter with A.B. at the Kangaroo gas station. Jackson told the jury that, after their chance encounter, he saw "Haley" often. They began smoking marijuana together and then having sex on a regular basis. Jackson told the jury that before the murder he had met with

A.B. maybe 50 or 60 times. (TR Vol. XV 1225). Jackson testified that A.B. even told him that she was the mother of his baby. (TR Vol. XV 1225).

Jackson also told the jury that on the morning of January 23, 2007, he got up about 4:30 in the morning. (TR Vol. XV 1255). He met A.B. at the Chevron. The Chevron, where Jackson claimed they met on the morning he murdered her, is within a mile of the clinic where A.B. worked. (TR Vol. XI 485).

Jackson would have had to walk to the Chevron to meet A.B. because he has no car. (TR Vol. XIII 903). Jackson told the jury that, after meeting at the Chevron, he and A.B. went to the Suburban hotel, smoked marijuana, and had sex (in her truck). (TR Vol. XV 1222). After that Jackson went to work and she went her own way. (TR Vol. XV 1223). Jackson told the jury that he got to work at 6:02 a.m. (TR Vol. XV 1255). Jackson also told the jury they only had vaginal sex and he and A.B. were together about 20-30 minutes. (TR Vol. XV 1260).

The State introduced ample evidence that was inconsistent with Jackson's claim that he had consensual sex before he and A.B. went to work and that some other dude must have murdered her. First, the timeline.

A.B.'s husband, S.B. testified that on the morning of January 23, 2007, his wife left the house between 4:30 and 4:45 a.m. It is somewhere between a 20 and 35 minute drive from

their home to the clinic, depending on traffic. (TR Vol. XI 485, 493, 510).

At 5:10 a.m., A.B. entered a Kangaroo convenience store to buy a soda and cigarettes. The Kangaroo store where A.B. stopped for a soda and some cigarettes is about ¾ mile from the vet clinic. (TR Vol. XI 535). As such, A.B. would have arrived at the Kangaroo some 20-35 minutes after she left her house.

A.B. is captured on a time stamped surveillance camera at 5:10:56. (TR Vol. XI 544-546). No one else was in the store. The store manager did not see Michael Jackson at the store at the same time A.B. was there. (TR Vol. XI 546). The time stamp on the video shows A.B. leaving the store at 5:12 a.m. (State's Exhibit 122).<sup>11</sup>

Twelve minutes after A.B. is seen leaving the Kangaroo, after buying a soda and some cigarettes, A.B. entered the security code for the alarm system in the main building at the Well's Road Vet Clinic. The time is 5:24 a.m. (TR Vol. XI 556).

Getting into the area where employees parked takes some time. When A.B. arrived at the clinic, she would have to get out her truck and unlock the gate. The gate was secured by a combination padlock. In order to open the lock, A.B. would have to dial in the combination. Once the lock and the gate are

 $<sup>^{11}</sup>$  This exhibit is on a disc marked Ext. 122RRRRR and is attached to Volume 6 of the record.

opened, A.B. would drive in, park the truck, and walk back and shut the gate. (TR Vol. XI 574).<sup>12</sup> A.B. would then have to go through a walk through gate, unlock the building, walk in and put in the alarm code. (TR Vol. XI 574).

If Jackson's version of events were to be believed, the only available time for he and A.B. to meet, drive to the Suburban hotel, have sex, and smoke marijuana, would be between the time A.B. left the house and the time she arrived at the Kangaroo. The tight time line between the time A.B. left the house and the time she arrived at the Kangaroo to buy cigarettes and soda is evidence, when viewed in the light most favorable to the State, inconsistent with Jackson's version of events.

Next, Jackson's version of events at trial was inconsistent with the statement he gave to the police. In particular, Jackson told the jury that he had known A.B. for months and had been engaging regularly in consensual sex with her. However, when the police interviewed Jackson and showed Jackson a picture of A.B., Jackson repeatedly and emphatically told the police he had never seen A.B. before. (State's Exhibit 83) (TR Vol. XIII 913).

At trial, Jackson explained that, despite the 50 or 60 encounters with her in the months leading up to the murder, he

 $<sup>^{12}\,</sup>$  It is not far from where employees park their cars and the locked gate entrance.

did not recognize A.B. from her picture because the girl in the photo was dressed up real nice and the picture was "fuzzy." (TR Vol. XV 1221). The jury was able to see the picture to determine whether it was "fuzzy" (it isn't). Jackson explained that he did not recognize A.B. because he had never seen her dressed up like that and her hair was different. (TR Vol. XV 1222). Jackson also testified that he and A.B. only had vaginal sex while Jackson's sperm was found on both A.B.'s vaginal swabs and anal swabs.

When viewed in a light most favorable to the State, the defendant's inconsistent versions of events, coupled with other evidence that refutes a claim of consensual sex, was sufficient to send the case to the jury. <u>Carpenter v. State</u>, 785 So.2d 1182, 1196 (Fla. 2001). See also <u>Fitzpatrick v. State</u>, 900 So.2d 495, 509 (Fla. 2005)(defendant's statements that were inconsistent with his claim of consensual sex coupled with the condition in which the victim was found sufficient to support the charge of sexual battery as underlying felony to felony murder).

Finally, and in the State's view, the most compelling, is the graphic evidence that A.B. was sexually battered immediately before she was strangled and beaten to death.<sup>13</sup> This Court

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Given that money was missing from the cash drawer, Jackson's claim that some other dude did it assumes the most likely

should look in particular at State's Exhibits 52-54 and 58-62, 64-65 (on a disc in Volume 6 of the record on appeal). These photos show A.B.'s body after Jackson murdered her on the kennel floor of the Wells Road Veterinary Clinic. The pictures amply demonstrated that the person who murdered her also sexually battered her.

When co-workers found A.B. dead on the floor of the kennel shortly before 7:00 a.m., A.B. was naked from the waist down, her panties and scrub pants were pulled down, turned inside out, and wound around one ankle. A.B.'s bra was blood soaked in places and her shirt was pulled up and open. Her legs were splayed apart. A.B.'s body was beaten and bruised. A.B.'s face was unrecognizable under the massive amounts of blood around her face and head. State's Exhibits 52-54 and 58-62, 64-65.

Secretions from A.B.'s vagina were pooling near the opening of her vagina. The medical examiner told the jury that if A.B. would have been raped within a couple hours of her death, the

scenario is that someone went in to the unlocked main building and went to the cash drawer looking for money, and because A.B. caught him, the UNSUB decided to kill her. If this were the case, the killer would have had no reason to strip A.B. naked from the waist down and open and pull up her shirt. Nor would the killer have any reason to take her from the main building to the kennel. The fact A.B. was found in the kennel, rather than the main building where the cash drawer was, by itself belies any notion this was a burglary gone bad. All of the evidence points to a conclusion that the same person who murdered her also raped her.

secretions would have settled along the dependent portion of her vagina including the area just inside the opening. (TR Vol. XIII 976). These secretions were visible when the medical examiner examined A.B.'s body. (TR Vol. XIII 976).

A.B.'s body was bruised. A.B. had bruises on the back of her shoulders consistent with her bra strap being jammed down into the concrete of the kennel. (TR Vol. XIII991). She had a bruise over her right hip. (TR Vol. XIII 1004). This could be consistent with A.B. being shoved to the concrete during a sexual attack. (TR Vol. XIII 1004). Two bruises are on the aspect of A.B.'s thighs. inner These bruises could be consistent with someone forcing her legs apart. (TR Vol. XIII 1005). A.B. had a series of bruises and one small abrasion to the back of her left arm consistent with being forced by her attacker to the concrete floor. (TR Vol. XIII 994). A.B. had bruises on her armpit and another on her right arm. These injuries were consistent with being grabbed on that portion of her body. (TR Vol. XIII 994).

The condition of A.B.'s near naked, bruised, and battered body is inconsistent with Jackson's claim that after having consensual sex and parting ways, some other dude must have murdered her. Instead, the evidence is consistent with a conclusion that the same person who murdered A.B. also sexually battered her. The evidence was also consistent with a

conclusion that the person who sexually battered and murdered A.B. was Michael Renard Jackson. Jackson's, and only Jackson's, sperm was found in swabbings from A.B.'s vagina and anus. No third party DNA was present. (TR Vol. XIV 1154).

This Court has previously looked to the victim's injuries and condition of her body to find the evidence was sufficient to support the defendant's conviction for sexual battery. For instance, in Fitzpatrick v. State, 900 So.2d 495 (Fla. 2005), the victim was found alive. Passersby found the victim walking on the side of the road. She was bloody and her throat was cut. Her bloody undergarments were wrapped around her waist near her breasts. Other injuries included a penetrating wound in the breast area that was either another stab wound or a bite mark, puffiness around her head, bruising on her arms, scratches covering her legs, and a cigarette burn on her leg. The victim's breasts were deep purple and several areas of her vagina and anus were either a very deep pink or red, indicating there was pressure from something penetrating the areas. Α registered nurse who examined the victim testified her findings were consistent with forced sexual activity; however, she could not determine conclusively if the sexual activity was forced.

The victim eventually succumbed to her injuries and Fitzpatrick was charged with first degree murder. Fitzpatrick alleged he had consensual intercourse with the victim some hours

before she was found and that someone else actually killed her. Fitzpatrick argued that, as such, the trial judge erred in denying his motion for a judgment of acquittal for felony murder with sexual battery as an underlying felony.

This Court rejected his claim. This Court found the condition of the victim's body contravened Fitzpatrick's claim of consensual sex. <u>Fitzpatrick v. State</u>, 900 So.2d at 509. Although Fitzpatrick's victim's injuries were not exactly the same as A.B.'s injuries, in both cases, the victim showed signs of great trauma consistent with forced sex followed by a vicious murder. Pursuant to this Court's decision in <u>Fitzpatrick</u>, this Court should find there is sufficient evidence to support Jackson's conviction for sexual battery.

This Court may also look to this Court's decision in <u>Orme</u> <u>v. State</u>, 25 So.3d 536 (Fla. 2009). After a second penalty phase that this Court ordered after counsel was deemed ineffective for failing to pursue evidence of Orme's bipolar disorder, Orme claimed, on direct appeal, that the trial judge erred in finding the "in the course of a sexual battery aggravator." <u>Orme v.</u> <u>State</u>, 25 So.3d at 552. Orme alleged that the State had failed to overcome his reasonable hypothesis that the sex was consensual.

This Court rejected his claim pointing to evidence that: (1) Redd's shirt was unsnapped and pulled up just below her

breast; (2) her pants were not fully up; (3) her bra was twisted and above the breast; (4) her panties were only on one leg; (5) Redd had injuries to her rectum consistent with unlubricated anal intercourse; (6) there was a significant amount of blood was found in the backside of Redd's panties which the medical examiner testified would not be normal in everyday consensual anal intercourse; and (7) there was a significant amount of bruising to Redd's body, specifically her legs, arms, abdomen, and upper chest area. Orme v. State, 25 So.3d at 552.

While the medical examiner found no injuries to A.B.'s vagina and rectum, A.B. was naked from the waist down and her panties and pants were pulled down and wrapped around one ankle. Moreover, A.B.'s legs were splayed and two bruises on the interior aspect of her thighs were consistent with her legs being forced apart. (TR Vol. XIV 1004-1005). Similar to Orme's victim, A.B's body was bruised on both arms, the back of her shoulders and right hip. Likewise, similar to Orme's victim, the evidence in this case supported a conclusion that A.B. was sexually battered and then, albeit it not without a fight, Pursuant murdered almost immediately thereafter. to this Court's decision in Orme, this Court should find there is sufficient evidence to support Jackson's conviction for sexual battery.

The record supports a finding from this Court that the State presented competent substantial evidence inconsistent with Jackson's hypothesis of innocence. As such, the trial judge properly denied Jackson's motion for a judgment of acquittal and sent this case to the jury and this Court should affirm. Durousseau v. State, 55 So.3d 543, 557 (Fla. 2010).

## ISSUE III

# WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FINDING THAT JACKSON COMMITTED THE MURDER WHILE UNDER A SENTENCE OF IMPRISONMENT.

In this claim, Jackson alleges the trial judge erred in finding, as an aggravating factor, that Jackson committed the murder while under a sentence of imprisonment. Jackson does not dispute that, at the time of the murder, he had been previously convicted of a felony and was under a sentence of imprisonment.

Instead, Jackson avers that, in order for the trial judge to find the aggravator, the State must show some sort of nexus between his status as a person under a sentence of imprisonment and the murder. (AB 40). Jackson argues that, without such a link, the "under a sentence of imprisonment" aggravator does nothing to limit or narrow the class of persons eligible for a death sentence. (39-40).

This claim can be denied for two reasons. First, it is not preserved for appeal.

Contrary to Jackson's claim the issue was preserved, Jackson never objected, below, to the "under a sentence of imprisonment" aggravator on the grounds the State failed to prove a nexus between the defendant's status and the murder. ( R Vol. IV 633-637). Failure to preserve this issue below also fails to preserve it for appeal. Hutchinson v. State, 882 So.2d (Fla. 2004)(ruling that this Court would not 943 address Hutchinson's claim, that in order to prove the victim under 12 aggravator the State must prove a nexus between the victim's status and the murder, because Hutchinson did not object below and preserve this claim for appeal). See also Everett v. State, 893 So.2d 1278 (Fla. 2004) (rejecting Everett's claim that use of "under sentence of imprisonment" aggravator the is unconstitutional because there is no evidentiary nexus between the factor and the homicide because it was not preserved for review and does not constitute fundamental error).

This claim may also be denied because there is no requirement that the State demonstrate a nexus between the "under a sentence of imprisonment" aggravator and the murder. Section 921. 141(5), Florida Statutes (2007) establishes a limited number of aggravating factors that can be considered in deciding whether to sentence a convicted capital defendant to death. Some of the aggravators are "status" aggravators; victim under 12, particularly vulnerable victim, defendant has been

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